
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Thursday, 7 July 2016 at 6.00 pm

Civic Suite, Solihull

CPH MANAGED GROWTH DECISION 
SESSION

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors I Courts,J Windmill and 
M McLoughlin

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Democratic Services
Tel: 0121 7046079
Email: frazer.powell@solihull.gov.uk

Date: Thursday 30 June 2016

CPH MANAGED GROWTH DECISION SESSION - Thursday, 7 July 2016

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

4. ADOPTION OF HARM ASSESSMENT/PRIORITISATION SCHEME FOR 
PLANNING ENFORCEMENT (Pages 5 - 20)

To consider the adoption of a harm assessment system to be used in 
determining the expediency of pursuing cases where an initial investigation has 
identified a prima facie breach of planning control, by quantifying the degree of 
‘planning’ harm caused. Also to agree consequential amendments to the 
Council’s adopted Local Enforcement Plan.

5. APPLICATION FOR DESIGNATION OF A NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA BY 
DICKENS HEATH PARISH COUNCIL (Pages 21 - 28)

To consider the application made by Dickens Heath Parish Council and agree to 
designate the Parish as a Neighbourhood Area.

6. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

7. OLD DAMSON LANE PHASE 2 (Pages 29 - 34)

To approve capital funding for additional works to the Gypsy and Traveller caravan 
site pitches. 



8. LAND AT STATION ROAD/HOMER ROAD (Pages 35 - 40)

 To receive an update on the redevelopment of land at Station Road/Homer Road 
Solihull and consider the advance purchase of a property within the potential 
redevelopment site. 

9. RELEASE OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANT A (Pages 41 - 52)
 
To review an application for the release of covenants affecting 
land.

10. RELEASE OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANT B (Pages 53 - 62)
 
To review an application for the release of covenants affecting 
land. 

11. DEVELOPMENT OF A DORMER BUNGALOW (Pages 63 - 70)
 
To review an application for the release of a restrictive covenant. 



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to: Cabinet Member for Managed Growth      

Meeting date: 07 July 2016 

Subject/Report Title: ADOPTION OF HARM ASSESSMENT/PRIORITISATION 
SCHEME FOR PLANNING ENFORCEMENT 

Report from: James Carpenter - Head of Development and Regulatory 
Management 

Report Author/Lead 
Contact Officer: 

David Wigfield - Planning Enforcement and Conservation Manager 

Wards affected:  All Wards 

 Bickenhill  Blythe 

 Castle Bromwich  Chelmsley Wood 

 Dorridge/Hockley Heath  Elmdon 

 Kingshurst/Fordbridge  Knowle 

 Lyndon  Meriden 

 Olton  Shirley East 

 Shirley South  Shirley West 

 Silhill  Smith's Wood 

 St Alphege 

Public/Private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue of 
Paragraph: 

N/A 

 
 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To consider the adoption of a harm assessment system to be used in determining 
the expediency of pursuing cases where an initial investigation has identified a prima 
facie breach of planning control, by quantifying the degree of ‘planning’ harm 
caused.  Also to agree consequential amendments to the Council’s adopted Local 
Enforcement Plan.    

2. Decision(s) Recommended 

2.1 To agree the adoption of the harm assessment form at Appendix A, and a related 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



minor amendment to the Council’s adopted Local Enforcement Plan to make 
reference to this new process, and to authorise future minor amendments to both as 
and when necessary.  

3. Background 

3.1 When the initial investigation into an alleged breach of planning control finds that 
there is an identifiable breach, a decision must be made on whether to spend further 
time and resources on pursuing the matter towards some sort of resolution – either 
through negation or, if all else fails, through some form of formal action.  In some 
cases, where there is only a minor technical breach which causes no significant 
harm and/or where a planning application would have been likely to be successful, it 
is not expedient to pursue the matter and the case is closed. 

3.2 At present, this is solely a matter of professional judgement, based on experience 
and material planning considerations on a case-by-case basis.  Such decisions are 
documented by the investigating officer in the case notes and explained to all 
interested parties.  Nevertheless, this is a difficult and contentious area of work 
which is inevitably liable to complaints.  It has therefore been proposed that the 
Council adopts a system used by some other authorities, whereby a ‘harm 
assessment form’ is used to apply a ‘score’ system to the breach of planning control, 
thereby providing a quantified assessment of the degree of harm caused, or likely to 
be caused by the breach.  A score beyond a threshold of 5 or more, will normally 
mean that the case will be pursued further, though this does not necessarily mean 
that formal action will ultimately be considered to be expedient.  Cases with a lower 
score will not normally be pursued any further, though owners/occupiers may be 
invited to remedy the matter or seek to regularise it through the submission of a 
planning application. 

3.3 Some cases will automatically be pursued and will not need to be the subject of this 
process – these include cases where there is a clear and significant conflict with the 
adopted development plan, and cases where a retrospective application has been 
refused. 

3.4 The form should be regarded as a useful tool to be used in guiding and informing the 
decision-making process, and in prioritising cases, though the final decision remains 
a matter of professional judgement.  It is proposed that the ‘trigger score’ is subject 
to review over time and in the light of practice experience, and also subject to 
potential variation according to work pressures (i.e. in periods of exceptional work 
loads and/or limited staff resources it may be appropriate to raise the threshold 
temporarily to assist the management of the service).      

4. Evaluation of Alternative Option(s)  

4.1 Alternative options would be to pursue a different version of the proposed 
assessment form, or not to pursue the proposal at all, and continue with the existing 
established system.  The former has been considered and the draft assessment form 
at Appendix A has been arrived at following the initial trialling of an existing form 
already used by another authority, which has been subsequently amended in the 
light of lessons learned. 

4.2 The latter remains an option, but would fail to secure the potential benefits outlined 
below in this report. 

Page 6



5. Reasons for Recommending Preferred Option 

5.1 The proposed harm assessment scheme would provide : a quantitative and 
qualitative assessment of harm to public amenity and interest; an open and 
transparent procedure; a quick and effective way of determining which cases should 
be further pursued; a flexible system which would support prioritisation and efficient 
use of resources; equality and consistency in the handling of cases; and a clear 
‘audit’ trail to assist in responding to complaints about decisions made relating to the 
pursuance of enforcement investigations.    

6. Scrutiny 

6.1 Not applicable. 

7. Implications 

7.1 Delivery of the Council’s Priorities 

The options/proposals in this report will contribute to the delivery of the following 
Council Priorities:  

  Managed Growth – b) Maintain and enhance Solihull’s character and 
sustainability; 

  Build Stronger Communities – a) Create conditions for strong communities that 
make Solihull a destination of choice to live, learn, work and play; 

  Deliver Value – make the best use of resources and deliver maximum value to 
the customer through The Solihull Way. 

 Policy/Strategy Implications - Consistent with the Council’s adopted Local 
Enforcement Plan (December 2013). 

 Meeting the duty to involve – not applicable 

7.2 Financial Implications – None as a direct result of this report 

7.3 Legal implications - None 

7.4 Risk Implications - None 

7.5 Statutory Equality Duty – consistent with policy 

7.6 Carbon Management/Environmental – Partner Organisations – not applicable 

7.7 Safeguarding/Corporate Parenting Implications - None 

7.8 Customer Impact – Public benefit in aiding a fair, consistent and transparent 
approach to enforcement. 

7.9 Other implications – None 

8. List of Appendices Referred to 

8.1 Appendix A – draft Harm Assessment Form. 

Page 7



9. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report 

9.1 Local Enforcement Plan (December 2013) 

10. List of Other Relevant Documents 

10.1 None 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Date:                                    Case Ref:                                                                 
Address : 

 
SMBC 

HARM ASSESSMENT FORM 
 

 All retrospective refusals of planning permission, and all clear and significant 
breaches of adopted development plan policy, will automatically be the subject of a 
full investigation – no need to complete this form for such cases. 

 After the initial site visit/investigation to establish the facts of the matter, each new 
case will be allocated scores as set out below to assess its harm.  The total will 
provide its harm score on which its priority will be based. 

 Where no material breach of planning control is identified, the case will be closed.  
 

Criteria Points Allocation
 

Score 

Degree of conflict with local plan (specify 
which policy) or adopted SPG  
 

(score 0-3) 
 

Highway or other public safety issue  
 

(score 0-3) 
 

How much in excess of what would 
otherwise be permitted development or 
authorised by an extant planning 
permission 

(score 0-3) 

 

Environmental/ecological harm 
 

(score 0-3) 
 

Harm to amenity 
 

(score 0-3) 
 

Area extent of any harm 
 

None – 0 
Neighbour(s) only – 1 
Local – 2 
Widespread - 3  
 

 

Likely to set an undesirable precedent No – 0 
Yes - 1  
 

 

Breach of condition or Article 4 Direction No – 0 
Yes – 1 
 

 

Degree of harm to any conservation area 
or other particularly sensitive location 
 

(score 0-3) 
 

Any other material considerations or 
exceptional circumstances (specify) 
 

(score 0-3) 
 

TOTAL POINTS (HARM SCORE) 
 

 

 

 Only complaints which score 5 or above will be further investigated – though this 
does not necessarily mean that formal action will ultimately be considered to be 
expedient. Those with a lesser score will not normally be pursued, but may be 
informed of the breach and invited to remedy/regularise it.  In both cases the 
complainant is to be notified of our actions.  The above assessment will be used 
as a guidance tool in the decision-making process and prioritisation of cases, but 
the final decision in each case remains a matter of professional planning 
judgement. The ‘trigger’ score may be varied according to work pressures. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN 
                                                                                               July 2016 

 

 

Page 11



2 
 

Introduction 

The planning system operates to regulate development and the use of land in the 

community’s interest having regard to the development plan and other material planning 

considerations. The effective and proper enforcement of planning control is essential to 

community confidence in the planning system. It is important that the local environment is 

protected, as are the interests of residents, visitors and businesses of the borough from any 

harmful effects of unauthorised development.  However enforcement action is a 

discretionary power which should only be used if and when absolutely necessary, after 

negotiation and any other potential remedies have not succeeded and there is a proven 

breach of planning control causing material harm.   

The majority of enforcement work is necessarily reactive in nature as we respond to service 

requests and queries from customers.  We will endeavour to be proactive in identifying and 

acting on breaches of planning control as far as reasonably possible, but this is inevitably 

limited and we depend largely on the general public to bring apparent breaches to our 

attention. 

The Council typically deals with around 500 enforcement investigations every year.  In the 

majority of cases, there will be no breach of planning control or no formal action will prove 

to be necessary, however the process of investigation and research, legal interpretation and 

advice, professional planning assessment, and negotiation, can be complex, contentious, 

and time-consuming.  Resources are limited, and decisions must be made which will often 

not be welcomed by persons with conflicting interests and opinions.  The purpose of this 

document is to set out the Council’s approach to dealing with alleged or suspected breaches 

of planning control to help customers understand the process and principles which guide 

what will happen when an enforcement service request is received. 

Principles of Enforcement 

The Council adopts a firm but fair approach which endeavours to strike a sensible balance 

between the need for effective control, and the need to be reasonable and pragmatic.  

Underlying this approach are some well-established basic principles : 

 Expediency – this is the most fundamental test of enforcement action – a local 

planning authority should only take formal action where it is expedient to do so.  

This will depend on whether the matter can be resolved by any other means, the 

level of harm caused, and compliance (or conflict) with adopted national and local 

planning policy. 

 Proportionality – enforcement action and the steps required by any notice should 

be proportionate to the seriousness of the breach and the level of harm caused by 

it.  

Page 12



3 
 

 Consistency – we will carry out our duties in a fair and wholly objective manner, 

focussing on material planning considerations.  Whilst no two cases are quite the 

same, and each must be considered and determined on its own individual merits, 

our approach to dealing with breaches of a similar nature and circumstances, and 

the application of relevant policies and procedures, will be as consistent as possible. 

 Transparency – we will be open about how we operate our enforcement service and 

offer information and advice in plain language as far as possible, although the use of 

some professional, technical and legal terminology is sometimes necessary.  We will 

discuss general issues, and provide factual information on specific cases to anyone 

with a legitimate interest, subject to the limitations imposed by legal considerations 

and confidentiality.    

 Confidentiality – the identity and personal details of a complainant will be kept 

strictly confidential and will not be released to any third party.  The only potential, 

and very rare, exception to this may be a case which eventually leads to police 

involvement and/or court action, in which case prior approval will be sought.  

Unless they relate to a very serious and urgent matter, anonymous service requests 

will be given very low priority and may not be pursued at all.  Private information 

acquired in the course of an enforcement investigation will be kept confidential as 

far as possible, except where it is directly relevant to the planning issues and needs 

to be referred to in a public document. 

 Helpfulness – prevention is better than cure and we will endeavour to work with 

customers to advise and assist with regularising situations where a breach has 

occurred or begun, or is about to.  Officers will provide a courteous, prompt and 

efficient service, and letters will provide a contact point and telephone number for 

customers to contact when seeking advice and information about a case.  We will 

keep customers informed of progress, and we will try to ensure that services are 

effectively co-ordinated to minimise unnecessary complications or delays.  Officers 

will not tolerate abusive or racist language or behaviour either in person, by 

telephone or email, or in correspondence. 

 Targeting – action will be primarily focused on those directly responsible for the 

breach and who are best placed to control it.  We will try to use our limited 

resources responsibly by prioritising the most serious and urgent cases.  These will 

typically be cases where irreparable damage is being caused to listed buildings or 

important protected trees, or where a breach is causing serious harm to public 

amenity, the environment, or highway safety.  We reserve the right to give a lower 

priority to less serious or urgent cases.  

 Standards – although timescales are often not entirely within our control due to 

external factors, we will endeavour to carry out some key steps in the investigative 

process according to internally-set standards which are specified within the section 

below which explains the enforcement process.  We will monitor our performance 

in relation to those standards. 

Page 13



4 
 

What is a Breach of Planning Control? 

The majority of planning enforcement investigations relate to one of the following alleged 

breaches: 

 development (either operational or a material change in use of land) has taken 

place without planning permission 

 development has not been carried out in accordance with an approved planning 

permission 

 failure to comply with a condition or legal agreement attached to a planning 

permission. 

Other matters which also fall under the scope of planning control include (in exceptional 

cases) untidy land. 

None of the above breaches constitute a criminal offence under planning legislation until 

and unless there is a failure to comply, by the due date, with a formal notice which the 

Council has issued.  However there are some other matters falling within planning control 

which are an offence.  These include : 

 Unauthorised demolition of a building (excluding specified categories) in a 

conservation area 

 unauthorised works carried out to a listed building which affect its historic character  

 unauthorised removal of, or works carried out, to protected trees without consent 

being granted or proper notification given 

 advertisements, which require consent under the advertisement regulations, which 

are displayed without express consent 

 failure to comply with the requirements of a planning notice, e.g. enforcement, 

discontinuance, stop notice, breach of condition notice, or other statutory notice. 

Materiality – when assessing whether or not a breach of planning control has occurred, we 

will also make a judgement on whether any identified breach is a material one.   Where a 

development has been carried out only very slightly in excess of what would otherwise be 

lawful, it may be considered that no material breach of planning control has occurred, even 

if there is, arguably, a technical breach.  This is a matter of professional judgement and will 

be considered in the context of the scale and nature of the overall development.  Non-

material or minor ‘technical’ breaches will not normally be pursued. 

“Not a planning matter” - we often receive complaints regarding matters that are not 

breaches of planning control. Often this is where other legislation covers and controls the 

matter. The following are examples of what we cannot become involved in through our 

planning enforcement service: 

Page 14



5 
 

 boundary and land ownership disputes, private rights of way, and 

covenants/easements on deeds – these are civil matters that the Council cannot get 

involved in. Further advice on these matters should be obtained from a solicitor or 

the Citizens Advice Bureau. 

 use of/or development on the highway, footway or verge that is covered by 

highway legislation – please contact the Council’s Neighbourhood Co-ordinators 

Team. 

 dangerous structures – please contact our Building Control Team. 

 fly tipping, high hedges, and any other matter covered by other environmental 

legislation such as noise and smell – please contact our Public Protection Team. 

 Uses operating without the necessary licence – please contact the Council’s 

Licensing Team. 

 

Investigating Possible Breaches of Planning Control 

To start a planning enforcement investigation, service requests can be made by a variety of 

means, including : via the Council’s Connect Service; by email; by letter; by filling out the 

standard form on our website; or in person at Solihull Connect.  Full details of all these 

contact points can be found on our website at www.solihull.gov.uk 

It is important that we are given the following basic information before we can log a case : 

name, address and contact details of the complainant (which will be kept confidential); full 

address of the land or property which is the subject of the complaint; and details of the 

alleged breach and any harm it may be causing. 

Registration – each new case is recorded on our database and given a unique reference 

number.  A case officer is allocated and their name and contact details will appear on an 

acknowledgement letter which we will endeavour to send within 3 working days of receiving 

the request. 

Research/site visit – most cases need a site visit and where this can be done from the 

highway or some other public place we will endeavour to do it within 10 working days.  

Usually it will be necessary to first contact the owner/occupier to seek to establish contact, 

inform them of the complaint, and arrange a visit, in which case we will endeavour to send 

the necessary letter within 10 working days.  Sometimes it may take several attempts and 

some weeks before access can be gained.  The Council does have statutory powers to gain 

entry to land but will normally only use these as a last resort when it is absolutely necessary. 

Sometimes, no site visit is necessary, but some other form of research and investigation will 

be appropriate. 

The investigation will seek to establish the relevant facts of the matter and thus enable a 

decision to be made on : 

Page 15

http://www.solihull.gov.uk/


6 
 

(a) whether a material breach of planning control has occurred; 

(b) whether it is expedient to pursue the matter; 

(c) whether there is a realistic prospect of resolving the matter by negotiation, 

amendment, or through the submission of a retrospective application; 

(d) if not, what form of formal action may be appropriate, and how urgently. 

In addition to a site visit and meeting with the owner/occupier, the Council has a number of 

information-gathering ‘tools’ available to it under the relevant legislation, in the form of 

statutory notices including a Planning Contravention Notice, which can be used where 

necessary to acquire the information needed.  These will be used where appropriate to do 

so, particularly but not exclusively in cases where there is no co-operation and/or timely 

response from the owner/occupier.  Failure to respond to such a notice is, in itself, an 

offence, and prosecution action will be considered in cases of blatant and continued non-

cooperation. 

Update – complainants will be updated on the progress of a case within 15 working days of 

receipt of the service request. 

Outcome – there is a range of potential outcomes of an investigation, from least to most 

serious, i.e.: 

(a) the alleged development has not occurred, or is not a matter within planning 

control; 

(b) the alleged development has occurred, but is permitted development (i.e. 

development which benefits from deemed consent under the relevant legislation 

and thus needs no planning application); 

(c) whilst a minor technical breach, it does not amount to a material breach of planning 

control; 

(d) it is a material breach, but causes no material harm and is not expedient to pursue at 

all, or not after negotiated changes;* 

(e) it is a material breach, but it is appropriate for the owner/occupier to exercise their 

right to submit a retrospective planning application to seek to regularise the matter.  

Amendments may be sought, and conditions may be imposed, to control the 

development and its effects;   

(f) it is a material breach which cannot be remedied through negotiation or application 

and which causes material harm – enforcement action is expedient following 

authorisation  and standard legal and administrative processes; 

(g) a material breach causing serious and immediate harm which needs to be addressed 

urgently using ‘emergency’ powers such as a stop notice or injunction.  

* The Council has adopted a harm assessment form which provides a ‘score system’ to 

assist in the prioritisation of cases and help to determine whether it would be expedient 

to pursue an identified breach of planning control, on a case by case basis.  Cases which 

Page 16



7 
 

score below a specified threshold will not normally be pursued, though a retrospective 

planning application may be invited.  

Retrospective Applications – it should be noted that the owner/occupier has the right to 

submit a planning application to seek to regularise a breach of planning control 

retrospectively, and where such an application is submitted the Council has a duty to 

determine it on its planning merits, in the same way as any other application.  The only 

exception to this are cases where there is a relevant planning history of a refusal, dismissed 

appeal, and/or effective enforcement notice relating to the same development.   

Retrospective applications are a necessary and helpful way of resolving breaches of planning 

control which are not necessarily harmful, particularly bearing in mind that the majority of 

breaches occur as a result of ignorance, erroneous advice, or misunderstanding of complex 

planning regulations, rather than a deliberate attempt to subvert the planning process.  The 

fact that an application is retrospective should not prejudice the decision which must be 

based, as always, solely on material planning considerations.  Where a retrospective 

application is refused, it will normally be expedient to then pursue enforcement action, 

notwithstanding the right of appeal. 

 

Taking Enforcement Action 

Once a formal decision has been made to take enforcement action, we will notify both the 

owner/occupier and any complainants, within 10 working days.  The necessary legal and 

administrative processes, together with competing work pressures, mean that it can 

sometimes take some time for the relevant notice to be prepared and served, but we will 

endeavour to do as quickly as possible, particularly for higher priority cases. 

 

Powers Available 

There are a number of different forms of formal action which might be appropriate, 

depending on the type of development, what type of breach of planning control has 

occurred, and how serious and immediate is the harm caused.  The principal types of formal 

action are as follows : 

 enforcement notice 

 listed building enforcement notice 

 stop notice 

 temporary stop notice 

 breach of condition notice      

 completion notice 

 Section 215 (untidy land) notice 

Page 17



8 
 

 tree replacement notice 

 hedgerow replacement notice 

 injunction 

 prosecution 

In each case where formal action has been determined to be expedient, the Council will 

decide which form of action is most appropriate in the circumstances.  Several of the above 

types of notice are subject to a right of appeal which ‘stops the clock’ on the enforcement 

process until the appeal has been determined or withdrawn.  The Council will defend its 

position in any appeal unless there has been some material change in circumstances.  

Where there has been some such change in circumstances, and it is appropriate to do so, 

the Council may use its statutory powers to withdraw a notice or agree a revised set of 

requirements or an extended compliance period. 

 

Prosecution 

The use of prosecution action in the Courts is an important part of enforcement and we will 

consider pursuing such action where an offender is liable, i.e. in cases where a formal notice 

has not been complied with; or where an offence has occurred as a result of unauthorised 

works to a listed building or a protected tree, or where there has been the unauthorised 

display of an advertisement. 

However, as with other forms of enforcement, prosecution is a discretionary power which 

will only be used if and when it is considered expedient to do so.  The two key tests are the 

evidential test, and the public interest test.  The former is a legal matter, whereas the latter 

will be determined having regard to the individual circumstances of each case including 

determining factors such as whether : 

 there is a risk to public health and safety as a consequence of the breach 

 the breach seriously harms public amenity 

 the harm caused cannot be repaired 

 the offence was the result of a deliberate act, was foreseeable, was committed with 

knowledge and understanding; and/or following recklessness or neglect; 

 the approach of the offender warrants it, e.g. there is a history of repeated breaches 

and/or persistent poor standards 

 it is appropriate in the circumstances to draw public attention to the need for 

compliance with the relevant legislation.  

In appropriate cases we will consider the use of a Formal Caution as an alternative to 

prosecution.  This can deal quickly and simply with less serious offences, divert less serious 

cases away from the court process, and deter repeat offences.  

Page 18



9 
 

Direct or ‘Default’ Action 

Where an enforcement or other formal notice has not been complied with by the end of the 

relevant compliance period, planning legislation empowers the Council to enter the land 

and carry out the requirements of the notice itself (or using contractors instructed to act on 

its behalf).  The Council may then recover any expenses reasonably incurred from the owner 

of the land.  Until recovered, such expenses become a charge on the land, binding on any 

successive owner.  Again this is a discretionary power only to be used as a last resort, but 

the Council will consider the use of this power where other forms of action have failed to 

remedy the breach, serious harm is being caused, and failure to do so would undermine 

confidence in the planning system. 

 

Proceeds of Crime Act 

Any benefit derived from a breach of planning control which has continued in breach of a 

formal notice, in the form of financial gain or income, may be forfeit under the provisions of 

the Proceeds of Crime Act.  The Council has successfully taken such action on more than one 

occasion, and will consider doing so in any case where it is considered feasible and 

appropriate to do so.  

 

Time Limits 

Planning legislation sets out time limits for taking enforcement action. The Council cannot 

serve a notice after four years from material completion, where the breach of planning 

control involves building operations (for example extensions to dwellings, new buildings and 

laying hard surfacing); or the change of use of any building to a single dwelling house.  Other 

unauthorised changes of use, and breaches of conditions, are subject to a ten year time 

limit.  After these periods the Council cannot take action and the use becomes lawful. The 

landowner can apply for a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use or Development (CLEUD) after 

this period. 

 Serving an enforcement notice in respect of a particular development stops the clock in 

relation to these time limits. Therefore, where the Council feel a breach may be close to the 

relevant time limit it may seek to take urgent enforcement action to protect its position and 

retain control over the situation. 

The Localism Act has introduced a new enforcement power in relation to time limits. This 

allows councils the possibility to take action against concealed breaches of planning control 

even after the usual time limit for enforcement has expired.   Such cases are unusual, but 

we will consider the use of this power if and when such cases come to our attention. 

Page 19



10 
 

Contacts and Other Sources of Information and Advice  

 

The Council can be contacted by telephone on 0121-704 6000, or by email (direct to the 

planning enforcement team) at planningenforcement@solihull.gov.uk 

Information on the planning process, and enforcement, can be found on the planning pages 

of the Council’s website at www.solihull.gov.uk 

The Government also has a web site for planning guidance and information known as the 

Planning Portal – www.planningportal.gov.uk 

Advice and assistance can also be sought from the RTPI’s Planning Aid service which can be 

contacted by telephone on 0203 206 1880, or by email at info@planningaid.rtpi.org.uk 

Page 20

mailto:planningenforcement@solihull.gov.uk
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/
mailto:info@planningaid.rtpi.org.uk


SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to: Cabinet Member for Managed Growth 

Meeting date: 7 July 2016 

Subject/Report Title: APPLICATION FOR DESIGNATION OF A NEIGHBOURHOOD 
AREA BY DICKENS HEATH PARISH COUNCIL 

Report from: Assistant Director - Growth & Development 

Report Author/Lead 
Contact Officer: 

Gary Palmer, Planning and Transport Policy Manager 

Wards affected:  All Wards 

 Bickenhill  Blythe 

 Castle Bromwich  Chelmsley Wood 

 Dorridge/Hockley Heath  Elmdon 

 Kingshurst/Fordbridge  Knowle 

 Lyndon  Meriden 

 Olton  Shirley East 

 Shirley South  Shirley West 

 Silhill  Smith's Wood 

 St Alphege 

Public/Private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue of 
Paragraph: 

N/A 

 
 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To consider the application made by Dickens Heath Parish Council and agree to 
designate the Parish as a Neighbourhood Area. 

2. Decision(s) Recommended 

2.1 To delegate to the Director for Managed Growth, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Managed Growth, the decision to designate the Neighbourhood Area as 
submitted by Dickens Heath Parish Council.  

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



3. Background 

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) introduced a set of measures to help shift power 
away from central government to local councils and communities.  

3.2 Given the widespread national publicity of the Government’s Localism agenda and 
Neighbourhood Planning, at your Cabinet meeting of 21st June 2012, Members 
approved the publication of Neighbourhood Planning Guidance for Solihull, which 
provides a Plain English guide to the new powers. A copy of the guidance and a set 
of Frequently Asked Questions are available on our Neighbourhood Planning 
webpage. 

3.3 This guidance explains that Neighbourhood Planning enables local communities and 
Parish/Town Councils to prepare Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP), 
Neighbourhood Development Orders (NDO) and Community Right to Build Orders 
(CRBO).  

3.4 Members will recall that a NDP is a community led plan which sets out policies to 
guide the future use and development of land within a specified Neighbourhood 
Area. The scope and content of plans will be defined by local communities, however, 
they must meet certain ‘basic conditions’. In particular, plans must contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development and be in general conformity with the 
strategic policies of the Development Plan for the area.  

3.5 The regulatory process for preparation of a NDP can be summarised as follows:   

Key Stage / Process Action 

1. Neighbourhood 
Area Designation 

Parish/Town Council or Neighbourhood Forum apply to 
Solihull Council for Area designation and the Council 
formally designate. 

2. Pre-Submission 
Consultation 

Six week consultation on draft Neighbourhood Plan 
undertaken by the local community. 

3. Submission Neighbourhood Plan formally submitted to Solihull 
Council. 

4. Technical 
Compliance Check 

Local planning authority check that all regulatory 
procedures have been followed. 

5. Publication Six week consultation undertaken by Solihull Council. 

6. Examination  Solihull Council send Neighbourhood Plan to 
independent Examination. 

7. Plan Proposal 
Decision 

Solihull Council considers examiners report, including 
any recommended modifications and if satisfied with the 
Plan proposal, proceed to referendum. 

8. Referendum Organised and funded by Solihull Council. Where 50% 
or more of those voting are in favour of the draft 
Neighbourhood Plan, it must be ‘made’ by the local 
authority and it then forms part of the statutory 
Development Plan. 

Page 22

http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Planning/appealsenforcement/planmaking/neighbourhoodplanning


3.6 The Council has already designated 5 Neighbourhood Areas in the Borough: 

 Balsall & Berkswell 

 Cheswick Green 

 Hampton in Arden 

 Knowle, Dorridge & Bentley Heath 

 Meriden 

4. Dickens Heath Neighbourhood Area Application  

Context 

4.1 The Parish Council submitted an application to Solihull Council to designate the 
Parish as a Neighbourhood Area. The application is the first formal stage in the 
process of the Parish Council preparing a NDP for Dickens Heath. 

4.2 The application proposes to designate the whole of Dickens Heath Parish as a 
Neighbourhood Area. A map of the area is attached at Appendix 1 and the full 
application is available on the Solihull Council website. 

4.3 The Parish covers an area immediately to the south of the built up area of Shirley.  
To the east is Cheswick Green, and to the south is Tidbury Green.  The parish 
shares its western boundary with Bromsgrove District.  

4.4 Other than a few isolated properties, most of the population of the parish live in the 
settlement of Dickens Heath, which was largely built from the late 1990’s onwards. 

4.5 Dickens Heath Parish Council is the ‘relevant body’ as defined by the Act to prepare 
a NDP for the proposed area. The Parish Council considers the area is appropriate 
for designation bearing in mind its community, communications, transport 
arrangements and services.  The designated area includes the whole of the civil 
Parish of Dickens Heath. 

4.6 In accordance with The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, the 
application was published for consultation.  The application was advertised on both 
the Parish Council and Solihull Council websites, posters were displayed within the 
proposed Neighbourhood Area and a copy of the application was available to view 
locally and on the Solihull Council website. Awareness of the application was also 
raised through Solihull Council’s Twitter accounts. 

4.7 All recognised residents associations and Parish Councils both within and adjacent 
the proposed Neighbourhood Area were notified of the application. 

Assessment of the application 

4.8 In determining an application for a Neighbourhood Area, Section 61G(5) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the local planning authority to consider 
whether the proposed area is appropriate for designation. Local planning authorities 
must have regard to: 

(a) the desirability of designating the whole area of a parish council as a 

Page 23

http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Planning/Letter_re_Neighbourhood_Plan_April_2016.pdf
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Planning/Letter_re_Neighbourhood_Plan_April_2016.pdf


Neighbourhood Area, and 

(b) the desirability of maintaining the existing boundaries of areas already 
designated as neighbourhood areas  

4.9 A further consideration is whether the area concerned should be designated as a 
business area. 

4.10 Government guidance states that a local planning authority must designate a 
neighbourhood area if it receives a valid application and some or all of the area has 
not yet been designated. It is also stated that the local planning authority should aim 
to designate the area applied for. The Local Planning Authority can modify the 
boundary only where there are clear planning reasons to do so. 

4.11 A high court judgement has also clarified that in deciding whether an area is 
appropriate or not, the local planning authority should have regard to the specific 
factual and planning policy circumstances at the time of the decision. 

4.12 The adopted Development Plan for the Borough is the Solihull Local Plan (SLP) 
(December 2013). Members will be aware that despite the Court Order, which has 
had implications for the Council’s housing land provision target and the sites in 
Tidbury Green, in all other respects, the Local Plan remains unaffected and 
continues to be the adopted Development Plan for the Borough. 

4.13 In terms of this Neighbourhood Area Application, with the exception of the settlement 
itself, the remainder of the Parish is entirely in the Green Belt.  Three allocations for 
residential development are made in the SLP, and these have now received the 
benefit of planning permission are under construction or have been constructed. 

4.14 The Local Plan makes provision for affordable housing developments on Green Belt 
land to meet local needs where they are consistent with a Neighbourhood Plan.  

4.15 Any future NDP would therefore need to be mindful of these designations and be in 
general conformity with the strategic policies of the Solihull Local Plan.  However it is 
important that it is recognised that the Council has commenced the Local Plan 
Review (LPR).  This will have important implications for the development of future 
neighbourhood plans as it will ultimately set the strategic policies that neighbourhood 
plans would need to be in accordance with.  Any neighbourhood plans ‘made’ under 
the SLP may become out of date as the LPR is adopted.  Therefore it is preferable 
for a Neighbourhood Plan to be considered alongside the emerging LPR (so that 
both can inform ‘each other’) and this underlines the importance of collaborative 
working and sharing of evidence.  However this issue of timing does not have a 
bearing on whether the neighbourhood area application is appropriate. 

4.16 In this case, the Neighbourhood Area application is valid, none of the area applied 
for has been previously designated as a Neighbourhood Area and it would not affect 
the other designated Neighbourhood Areas in the Borough. The area is not wholly or 
predominantly business in nature such that it should be designated as business 
area. 

4.17 Therefore, in accordance with Government guidance, regulations and having regard 
to relevant case law, it is considered appropriate that the area applied for by Dickens 
Heath Parish Council should be designated as a Neighbourhood Area. 

Next Steps 

Page 24

http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2013/513.html


4.18 The next stage in the process would be for Dickens Heath Parish Council to develop 
its NDP and submit to Solihull Council to check that it has complied with legislation 
and is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development Plan and 
national policy guidance. 

Funding for Neighbourhood Planning 

4.19 Solihull MBC has a legal obligation to assist Parish / Town Councils and 
Neighbourhood Forums with the process of preparing NDPs, if requests come 
forward. Although the regulations do not require local planning authorities to give 
financial assistance to such groups, the Council is required to organise and pay for 
the independent examination of a plan and the referendum. 

4.20 As of April 2016, new arrangements are in place for the way LPAs can claim 
financial assistance for fulfilling their duty to support neighbourhood planning.  

4.21 The basic level of funding of £30,000 has been reduced. LPAs can still claim 
£20,000 once a NDP has been examined and a date for referendum has been set. 
However, the £5000 that local authorities could claim for every designation of a 
neighbourhood area (up to a maximum of 20 designations per year or £100,000) can 
now only be claimed for the first five neighbourhood area designations. The limit of 
five areas applies to the total number of areas designated in the LPA (i.e. it includes 
areas designated in previous years). As Solihull already has five designated 
neighbourhood areas, no further claims can be made. These funding arrangements 
also apply to the designation of neighbourhood forums; however, in Solihull only one 
neighbourhood forum has been designated so far, so a further four claims can be 
made in the event of subsequent neighbourhood forum designations. 

4.22 Previously, £5000 could also be claimed when the final pre-examination version of 
the NDP is publicised by the LPA prior to examination. This is now no longer the 
case. 

4.23 Further details of the funding changes are available here 

5. Scrutiny 

5.1 To date, there have been no scrutiny issues with regard to the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area for Meriden. 

6. Implications 

6.1 Delivery of the Council’s Priorities 

The options/proposals in this report will contribute to the delivery of the following 
Council Priority(ies): 

 Managed Growth (Local Plan Delivery and review)  

 Build Stronger Communities (Building community capacity to identify and meet 
local needs) 

6.2 Policy/Strategy Implications – NDPs must be in ‘general conformity’ with the 
strategic policies of the Development Plan. Once a NDP is adopted, it forms part of 
the statutory Development Plan. This means that decisions on planning applications 
will have to be made in accordance with the adopted NDP as well as the 
Development Plan for the Borough, unless material considerations indicate 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/506423/160309_LA_Funding_neighbourhood_planning_16-17_-_Chief_Planner_letter.pdf


otherwise. 

6.3 Meeting the duty to involve – The Neighbourhood Area application has been 
subject to consultation, although the period for comments has yet to finally expire, 
hence the recommendation to delegate authority to the Director for Managed Growth 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Managed Growth so that should any 
representations be received prior to the deadline, they can be taken into account 
before a decision is made. 

6.4 Financial Implications – The staff time associated with providing support to 
developing the plan will be funded through the existing Policy and Spatial Planning 
budget. The cost independent examination of the plan will be incurred by the 
Authority and will be refunded via the final assistance available. If the examination 
does not lead to a referendum this cost will be funded through existing Policy and 
Spatial Planning resources.  

6.5 Legal implications – See above regarding assistance in the process of preparing 
NDPs. 

6.6 Risk Implications – None identified at this stage. 

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty – A Fair Treatment Assessment of a Neighbourhood Area 
application is not required. 

6.8 Carbon Management/Environmental – None identified at this stage. 

6.9 Partner Organisations – Recognised Residents’ Associations and Parish Councils 
both within and adjoining the proposed Neighbourhood Area were notified of the 
application. 

6.10 Safeguarding/Corporate Parenting Implications – None identified. 

6.11 Customer Impact – None identified at this stage. 

6.12 Other implications – None identified. 

7. List of Appendices Referred to 

7.1 Appendix 1 – Map of the proposed Dickens Heath Neighbourhood Area. 

8. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report 

8.1 None. 

9. List of Other Relevant Documents 

9.1 None. 

 
 

Page 26



P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 29

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 35

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 39

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 41

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 51

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 ADOPTION OF HARM ASSESSMENT/PRIORITISATION SCHEME FOR PLANNING ENFORCEMENT
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	5 APPLICATION FOR DESIGNATION OF A NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA BY DICKENS HEATH PARISH COUNCIL
	Appendix 1

	7 Old Damson Lane Phase 2
	8 Land at Station Road/Homer Road
	Station Road-Homer Road Appendix

	9 Release of Restrictive Covenant A
	Hampton Road APPENDIX A
	Hampton Road APPENDIX B
	Hampton Road APPENDIX C

	10 Release of Restrictive Covenant B
	Hanbury Road APPENDIX A
	Hanbury Road APPENDIX B

	11 Development of a Dormer Bungalow
	Bills Lane APPENDIX A
	Bills Lane APPENDIX B


